STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Oct 26 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

—————
Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Beaufort County
Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge
—————

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TYRONE ANTHONY WALLACE, JR.

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-000332

—————
BRIEF OF PETITIONER
—————

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the Court of Appeals err in holding a member of the solicitor's office was qualified as an expert in historical cell site analysis where the solicitor's employee lacked the knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education necessary in order to render an opinion in the area?

STATEMENT

When Varsheen “Twiz” Smith was released from federal prison in 2015, he returned to Beaufort to take over the city. R. 225, l. 7 – R. 226, l. 6. Smith moved in with Vermone “Mony” Steve, who had a house on Greene Street from which Smith sold drugs. R. 136, ll. 1-14; R. 143, l. 25 – R. 144, l. 8; R. 226, ll. 1-6.

On October 25, 2015, Steve, Andre “Dre” Frazier, and a third person went to Buffalo Wild Wings to watch football. R. 135, ll. 13-15; R. 144, ll. 9-18; R. 145, ll. 2-6. Finding “no girls in there,” Steve left shortly after arriving. R. 145, ll. 5-24. When the football game was over, Frazier called Steve to make sure he was home and then Frazier went to Steve’s house. R. 146, l. 24 – R. 147, l. 24. Frazier was understandably apprehensive because a few months prior to October 25, 2015, Smith pulled his gun and threatened to kill Frazier. R. 173, ll. 21-24; R. 174, ll. 1-9.

Frazier parked at an abandoned building next door to Steve’s home, and as he walked to the home, he saw Smith and Petitioner standing in the yard. R. 148, ll. 2-4; R. 148, ll. 10-11; R. 151, ll. 2-8. When Smith told Frazier that Steve was in the house, Frazier walked closer toward the house. R. 153, ll. 6-25. Smith and Petitioner followed him. R. 154, ll. 13-15; R. 155, ll. 19-23. At the threshold, Smith struck Frazier in the back. R. 156, ll. 5-8. Thereafter, Frazier and Smith “tussled at the door.” R. 156, ll. 9-10; R. 156, ll. 15-16.

Frazier claimed that Smith was trying to push him into the house and that Petitioner helped Smith by jumping on Smith’s back. R. 156, l. 25 – R. 157, l. 15. Smith put a gun to Frazier’s stomach during the scuffle. R. 157, ll. 4-6. Frazier then entered the house with Smith closing the door behind him. R. 158, ll. 9-13. Smith directed Petitioner to “run” Frazier’s pockets, which Petitioner did. R. 158, ll. 14-23. When Frazier refused to lie on the floor as

Smith commanded, Smith shot Frazier in the back of the head. R. 159, ll. 11-20. Per Smith's instructions, Petitioner removed Frazier's belt and used it to tie up Frazier. R. 160, ll. 17-25. Thereafter, Petitioner – again, at Smith's direction – retrieved a rag, which was placed in Frazier's mouth. R. 160, ll. 11-16; R. 161, ll. 3-8. With Smith pointing a gun at Frazier, Petitioner walked Frazier to a back room in the house. R. 162, ll. 2-12. When Petitioner was alone with Frazier, he assured Frazier that he had no intention of killing him. R. 163, ll. 2-4.

When Smith re-entered the back room where Petitioner and Frazier were, Smith ordered Petitioner to go outside. R. 164, ll. 1-2. Smith commanded Frazier to lie on the floor. R. 164, ll. 4-5. As Frazier got to his knees, Petitioner knocked on the door, asking to speak to Smith. R. 164, ll. 14-18. Although Smith left the room to speak to Petitioner, which allowed Frazier to retrieve his phone from his back pocket, Frazier decided not to call anyone. R. 164, l. 21 – R. 165, l. 24. Smith and Petitioner then returned to the room, and Petitioner, at Smith's direction, untied Frazier and let him leave. R. 166, l. 11 – R. 167, l. 1. When Frazier walked outside, he saw police in the area, but he made no attempt to contact the officers. R. 167, ll. 2-20.¹ Even after Frazier was free and clear of any perceived danger, Frazier made no effort to call police. R. 169, l. 25 – R. 170, l. 2. Frazier was unequivocal that Smith was the one in control of the situation, and Petitioner was doing what Smith demanded. R. 160, ll. 1-8. Furthermore, it was undisputed that Petitioner was unarmed during the encounter with Frazier. R. 175, ll. 3-8.

Frazier claimed he spent the rest of the night looking for Steve, but he was unable to find him. R. 168, ll. 3-8.

¹ Around 8 p.m., the police responded to the area for a disturbance call. R. 426, l. 6 – R. 427, l. 9; R. 294, ll. 2-7 (George Erdel testifying the police were on the scene at “7:31, or around there”).

Ralph Ramsey and a friend were playing tennis in downtown Beaufort on October 25, 2015. R. 422, ll. 9-14. Ramsey heard gunshots, and immediately thereafter, he saw a car slowly approach the tennis courts. R. 423, ll. 5-8. Later, Ramsey called 911. R. 422, ll. 15-21.² On his way out of the area, Ramsey saw a police officer, and stopped to speak to the officer about what he had heard and seen. R. 423, ll. 15-22; R. 428, ll. 8-9. According to an officer who responded to the scene, Ramsey and his friend heard “three distinct gunshots.” R. 428, ll. 13-14. The men also reported seeing a “silver-in-color Yukon, GMC Yukon” that left the area “in a pretty quick fashion.” R. 428, ll. 14-18. Further, the men said the Yukon returned “[a] few moments later.” R. 428, ll. 18-19.

Late at night on October 25, 2015, Tayquan Lampkin asked Dominique “Niko” Cook for help and to use Cook’s car. R. 207, ll. 1-25; R. 208, ll. 12-16.³ Cook and Lampkin drove to Lampkin’s house, where Petitioner met the two. R. 210, ll. 1-12. Prior to October 25, 2015, Petitioner and Cook had never met. R. 206, ll. 23-25.

Cook claimed he gave his car keys to Petitioner, despite the fact that the two had just met, and that Smith got into the car as well. R. 213, ll. 9-16. Also, in that statement, Cook claimed Petitioner drove them to an island where he stopped the car in an open field. R. 214, ll. 5-11. According to Cook, Petitioner and Smith got a man out of the trunk⁴ and that Petitioner “brought out a gas can and gassed it up.” R. 214, l. 15 – R. 215, l. 2. Afterward, Cook’s car was stuck in

² Based upon the other evidence presented, the gunshots were fired shortly before 8:30 p.m. R. 294 (officer testifying the shots fired call was at 8:24 p.m.); R. 427, ll. 1-4 (officer testifying that the “shots fired” call was “around 8:30”).

³ Contrary to Cook’s claims, his GPS monitoring ankle bracelet placed him “at or near the residence” on Greene Street from 6:38 p.m. to 9:27 p.m. R. 432, ll. 11-17.

⁴ The police found Vermone Steve’s DNA in the trunk. R. 246, ll. 7-15.

the mud, and Petitioner called a tow truck company for assistance. R. 215, ll. 3-7. Cook admitted that Petitioner told him that he shot Steve because Smith forced him to do so. R. 217, ll. 8-11.

Cook also claimed that Petitioner arrived at Pea Patch Road while he, Lampkin, and Smith were there. R. 218, l. 21 – R. 219, l. 16. According to Cook, Petitioner arrived alone in a truck. R. 218, l. 21 – R. 219, l. 16. Cook speculated that Lampkin called Petitioner to the area. R. 219, ll. 11-16.⁵

Janice Steve, Vermone Steve's mother, last saw him on October 18, 2015. On October 26, 2015, Frazier called Janice. R. 135, ll. 19-24; R. 137, ll. 21-23; R. 169, ll. 4-7. Based on this phone call, Janice reported Steve missing. R. 138, ll. 3-6; R. 283, ll. 4-10; R. 283, ll. 22-23. On October 27, 2015, the police entered the home shared by Smith and Steve through an unlocked window. R. 314, ll. 10-22. Inside, the police found no signs of a struggle. R. 315, ll. 5-7. Further, the police found no blood in the house, even when using "a reagent test." R. 337, ll. 8-16. Two days later, the police interrogated Frazier. R. 284, ll. 2-8. Frazier was "almost incoherent, extremely jumpy," and could not "hold a train of thought." R. 321, ll. 16-19.

Then, on November 16, 2015, the police interrogated twenty-one-year-old Petitioner for three hours because Frazier implicated him in his kidnapping. R. 286, ll. 7-23; R. 289, ll. 20-22; R. 342, ll. 10-12. The police arrested Petitioner at the conclusion of this interrogation.

Two days later, on November 18, 2015, a phone call led the Beaufort County Sheriff's Office to a body on Pea Patch Road. R. 182, l. 4 – R. 183, l. 5. Later, the police identified the remains as belonging to Steve. R. 188, ll. 21-24; R. 247, l. 16 – R. 248, l. 21; R. 409, ll. 3-13. A

⁵ Dominique "Niko" Cook pled guilty to accessory after the fact for murder of Steve. R. 204, ll. 5-7; R. 204, ll. 17-25; R. 205, ll. 1-2.

forensic chemist found gasoline present in soil samples collected from the area. R. 192, ll. 17-18.; R. 193, ll. 18-22; R. 194, ll. 6-11; R. 194, ll. 18-22; R. 202, l. 19 – R. 203, l. 4.

According to the pathologist, Steve had “two irregularities” with his bones. R. 411, ll. 2-5. On the seventh rib on the left, there was “a somewhat irregular, kind of circular defect that had some fractures extending from it.” R. 411, ll. 5-9. “[A]t the corner of the lower left eye, there was a black kind of charred or singe mark on the skull.” R. 411, ll. 11-13. Although the pathologist could not determine what caused the rib injury, he agreed it was “consistent with a gunshot wound.” R. 413, ll. 15-21. The injury to the eye area was consistent with the remains having been set on fire. R. 414, ll. 1-12. Additionally, the pathologist noted “several defects varying in size” on the back of the t-shirt found with the remains. R. 416, ll. 12-14. While he could not say how the defects got there, he agreed “[a] gunshot could certainly make the hole through the shirt such as those.” R. 416, ll. 19-23. Due to the condition of the body, the pathologist could not determine the cause and manner of death. R. 417, ll. 1-6.

The police interrogated Petitioner again on November 25, 2015, and for a third time on December 3, 2015. R. 302, ll. 23-25; R. 303, ll. 6-11. Months later, on March 17, 2016, a Beaufort County grand jury indicted Petitioner for murder of Steve (2016-GS-70-0044) and kidnapping of Frazier (2015-GS-07-1907). R. 591-592; R. 594-595. While Petitioner was waiting for his case to be called to trial, Jordan Burgess was hired to kill Petitioner. R. 347, ll. 15-22. In fact, Petitioner was beaten up at the detention center and placed into segregation to save him from other inmates. R. 348, l. 15 – R. 349, l. 12.

The state, represented by Mary C. Jones and Kimberly L. Smith, called the case to trial before the Honorable Carmen Mullen on June 18-22, 2018. R. 1-2. Trasi Campbell and Eric Staggs represented Petitioner. R. 2. Ultimately, the jury found Petitioner guilty of murder of

Steve and guilty of kidnapping of Frazier. R. 523, ll. 3-14. Judge Mullen sentenced Petitioner to twenty-five years for kidnapping and life imprisonment for murder. R. 524, ll. 1-8; R. 593; R. 596.

On June 27, 2018, Petitioner served his notice of appeal. Thereafter, on appeal, Petitioner challenged the trial court's qualification of a member of the solicitor's office as an expert in historical cell site analysis based upon the employee's lack of knowledge, skill, experience, training, and education. Specifically, Petitioner noted the witness had never been qualified as an expert previously and he demonstrated no knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education in this area. In fact, his most significant training provided him with a certificate stating the solicitor's employee's completion of the course did *not* render the employee qualified as an expert. Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals held the solicitor's employee was properly qualified as an expert because he was "the Director of the Fourteenth Circuit Solicitor's Office Intelligence Unit; ha[d] amassed seventy-two hours of training related to historical cell-site analysis; continue[d] his education in historical cell-site analysis in the form of yearly online trainings; and ha[d] reviewed over one hundred sets of cell phone records." State v. Wallace, 2021-UP-029 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Jan. 27, 2021). The Court of Appeals subsequently denied Petitioner's petition for rehearing.

Petitioner filed a petition for writ of certiorari, which this Court granted on September 21, 2021. This brief follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The decision of whether to admit or exclude testimony from an expert witness is within the sound discretion of the circuit court. State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006). An abuse of discretion occurs when the circuit court's conclusions "either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 349, 737 S.E.2d 490, 495 (2013) (quoting State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429–30, 632 S.E.2d 845, 848) (2006) (internal quotation marks omitted). "A [circuit] court's ruling on the admissibility of an expert's testimony constitutes an abuse of discretion where the ruling is manifestly arbitrary, unreasonable, or unfair." State v. Grubbs, 353 S.C. 374, 379, 577 S.E.2d 493, 496 (Ct. App. 2003) (citing Means v. Gates, 348 S.C. 161, 166, 558 S.E.2d 921, 924 (Ct. App. 2001)).

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erred in holding a member of the solicitor's office was qualified as an expert in historical cell site analysis where the solicitor's employee lacked the knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education necessary in order to render an opinion in the area.

Relevant facts

Prior to trial, Petitioner moved to suppress the state's "use of cell phone tower testimony." R. 3, ll. 5-9. In the motion, Petitioner argued the evidence was "scientific evidence, and opinions or interpretations for a jury can only be elicited from an expert who is subjected to qualification by th[e] Court." R. 525-529. Additionally, Petitioner argued that if the trial court determined the evidence was not scientific, then an employee from the solicitor's office should not be allowed to "provide any analysis or interpretation or opinions about the cell phone tower data," due to the employee's position as an advocate. R. 525-529. According to Petitioner, "[c]ell phone providers create and maintain records of cell phone interaction with cell phone tower sectors for purposes of optimizing service and accurately billing customers" R. 525-529. Then, "[b]y examining those records, a person can determine the general location of a cell phone at the time it connects to a tower." R. 525-529.

On June 11, 2018, Judge Mullen convened a hearing on the motion. R.1. The state requested that Dylan Hightower, "the director of the Intelligence Unit" at the Fourteenth Circuit Solicitor's Office, be qualified as an expert in historical cell phone data. R. 5, ll. 9-14. Hightower had never been qualified as such an expert. R. 6, ll. 22-25; R. 9, ll. 18-20. Hightower explained that in his role at the Solicitor's Office, he performed "historical cell phone analysis for the actual records that were provided from the providers." R. 10, ll. 9-11. Upon receipt, from the providers, of "call detail records," "a realtime tool," and "any other incoming and

outgoing calls,” Hightower would analyze the information and “do a geo spacial mapping.” R. 10, ll. 12-19.

A proffer revealed the following concerning Hightower’s lack of expertise in the area of cell site location information analysis. Hightower graduated from the University of South Carolina in 2010 with a degree in sociology. R. 11, ll. 2-4. After graduation, he “served an internship with the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division, and ultimately obtained a position at the Fourteenth Circuit Solicitor’s Office.” R. 11, ll. 4-7. According to Hightower’s resume, he *immediately* began working as the Director of the Intelligence Unit for the Fourteenth Circuit Solicitor’s Office. R. 574. There is no indication that Hightower held any position, law enforcement or otherwise, between his internship and his post as Director of Intelligence.

As a favor to the Solicitor, SLED agreed to allow Hightower to “do a four-week, on-the-job training [course] in the Fusion Center” to develop “a knowledge for basic criminal intelligence analysis.” R. 11, ll. 7-13. This four-week program “encompass[e]d everything,” including “any locating people, locating witnesses, using different types of software and/or databases to obtain information, reports, things of that nature; as well as *basic* knowledge of cell phone forensics, as well as cellular analyses.” R. 11, ll. 14-19 (emphasis added).

In December 2011, he took a “one-week course” at SLED called “PenLink” for “call analysis training.” R. 11, l. 20 – R. 12, l. 1. That course taught “how to read the records,” “map the records,” and “how to use their software,” which does the analyses. R. 12, ll. 1-5.

Three years later, he took a two-day course called “Fundamentals of Call Detail Records Analysis” in North Carolina. R. 12, ll. 7-9. This class primarily dealt with “manual searching, [and] manual analyses.” R. 12, ll. 9-12. Then, he attended a “one-day course in Myrtle Beach” on “mobile forensics.” R. 14, ll. 11-13. For this class, he obtained “a certification” and his work

was “peer reviewed by someone” with more knowledge in the system or someone who had been using the system longer. R. 14, ll. 14-18. Finally, in May 2018, *one month* before the hearing to determine his qualifications and the admissibility of his testimony, he attended “the FBI CAST class.” R. 14, ll. 18-21. This class concerned “historical cell site analysis.” R. 14, ll. 19-21. In total, Hightower had 72 hours of training in “actual” courses. R. 24, ll. 23-24; R. 33, ll. 1-5.

When asked if he were certified or if anyone tested him, he responded that the instructors at the classes he took did so. R. 12, l. 25 – R. 13, l. 9. He also claimed that “after all these classes” he was certified in “an understanding of how to read records, as well as an understanding of how cell site towers work, as well as sectors[, and a]ll entities of call detail records.” R. 14, l. 22 – R. 15, l. 6. Later, he revealed he had received a certification only from “FBI CAST, Cell Site Analysis Course.” R. 25, ll. 7-12; R. 33, ll. 19-25. He was certified in “[h]aving the ability to analyze and interpret data ... from the different cellular providers.” R. 35, ll. 1-5.

Hightower had never conducted any experiments to test the accuracy of the information he received from his instructors. R. 28, l. 21 – R. 29, l. 10. He simply accepted the word of his instructors. R. 29, ll. 11-19. “[I]n the beginning,” Hightower reached out to his instructors to have “them peer review [his] work to make sure what [he] was doing was correct and was going along with what [he] learned in the class.” R. 30, ll. 2-6.

During the hearing, the state explained Hightower would testify that Petitioner’s “cell phone [was] pinging off of the towers on the way to and from the murder location.” R. 19, l. 25 – R. 20, l. 2. Hightower received Petitioner’s phone records. R. 37, l. 24 – R. 38, l. 6. He then conducted “a cell site analysis” on the records for the time period of October 25, 2015, at 7 p.m. until October 26, 2015, at 5 a.m. R. 40, ll. 7-16. Hightower created a report of his analysis

because the records received from the cell phone provider were “very tough to understand and comprehend.” R. 40, ll. 17-25. He also created “an overview of all the towers that were utilized by that phone during a specifically time frame, along with the location of the residence at XXX Greene Street, and the location of the burned remains off of Pea Patch Road on Saint Helena.” R. 41, l. 18 – R. 42, l. 4. He generated the map using “the CASTViz system,” software from one of the conferences he attended. R. 42, ll. 5-7. He claimed he “also did a manual search, a manual analysis through Microsoft MapPoint.” R. 42, ll. 7-8.

Hightower informed the judge that the Greene Street house was “approximately 327 yards from the tower.” R. 20, ll. 21-25. Hightower further asserted that “the location of the remains was 2.67 miles from that tower on that same sector,” and from this, he concluded “it would be in that direction the phone was utilized.” R. 21, ll. 5-7. When asked how he could “get that specific,” Hightower responded that he “just measure[d] the difference between the location of the remains and the distance ... where the tower is located” using latitude and longitude. R. 21, ll. 8-17.

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