RECEIVED

Dec 20 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Beaufort County
The Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2021-000332

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

TYRONE ANTHONY WALLACE, JR.,

Petitioner.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 14244

W. JOSEPH MAYE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100851

Office of the Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

ISAAC MCDUFFIE STONE

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

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals properly upheld the trial court's decision to qualify Mr. Hightower as a historical cell site analysis expert. The record demonstrated he possessed extensive training and experience in the precise type of analysis offered at trial, and there can be no basis for prejudice in light of Petitioner confessing to his presence at the various locations of the crimes.

The issue before this Court is whether Dylan Hightower had received sufficient training, experience, or education in the field of historical cell site analysis so as to qualify as an expert witness under SCRE 702. The trial court found that he had. The Court of Appeals found no abuse of discretion in that ruling, and there is likewise no error on the part of the Court of Appeals in its affirmance. However, Petitioner insists that Mr. Hightower was not qualified to testify as an expert because he had never before been qualified as an expert, did not possess sufficient training and experience, and because one of the certificates from his numerous training courses contained a disclaimer that that particular course did not independently qualify someone to serve as an expert in historical cell site analysis. The existing case law governing the qualification of expert witnesses is immensely thorough, and collectively, it leaves Petitioner with no footing in which to sufficiently support his arguments for reversal. Mr. Hightower's collective experience, training, and education in the specific area of historical cell site analysis well exceeded the requirements set forth for qualification as an expert witness. Petitioner's arguments provide neither a legal nor a factual basis demonstrating error in this matter, and Petitioner's confessions to being present at the pertinent locations of the crimes negate any potential prejudice that could be alleged from Mr. Hightower's testimony. The Court of Appeals decision should therefore be affirmed.

a. Petitioner's arguments do not present a legal basis for reversal

Over recent years, South Carolina courts have come to conclude that historical cell site location information and analysis (often referred to as “CSLI”) is a technical skill that requires expert testimony under Rule 702 in order to be admissible at trial. See *State v. Warner*, 430 S.C. 76, 89, 842 S.E.2d 361, 367 (Ct. App. 2020), reh'g denied (May 28, 2020), cert. granted (Jan. 22, 2021). Rule 702 sets forth that: “If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.” SCRE 702. The law concerning the threshold for expert witness qualification is not based upon any particular mandatory qualifications. *Fields v. J. Haynes Waters Builders, Inc.*, 376 S.C. 545, 556, 658 S.E.2d 80, 86 (2008) Instead, “[t]o be competent as an expert, a witness must have acquired by reason of study or experience or both such knowledge and skill in a profession or science that he is better qualified *than the jury* to form an opinion on the particular subject of his testimony.” *Gooding*, 326 S.C. at 253, 487 S.E.2d at 598 (emphasis added). It is a cumulative analysis that considers the totality of the proposed expert’s exposure and familiarity with the subject matter in question. *Honea v. Prior*, 295 S.C. 526, 369 S.E.2d 846 (Ct.App.1988) (noting that there is no precise requirement concerning how knowledge or skill must be acquired so as to qualify as an expert); *Wilson v. Rivers*, 357 S.C. 447, 452, 593 S.E.2d 603, 605 (2004)(“The test for qualification of an expert is a relative one that is dependent on the particular witness's reference to the subject.”). “For a court to find a witness competent to testify as an expert, the witness must be better qualified than the fact finder to form an opinion on the particular subject of the testimony.” *Ellis v. Davidson*, 358 S.C. 509, 525, 595 S.E.2d 817, 825 (Ct. App. 2004) (citing *Mizell*, 351 S.C. at 406, 570 S.E.2d at 183). Pursuant to this standard, “the

admission or exclusion of expert testimony is a matter within the sound discretion of the trial court.” *Id.*

In addition to these general applications of the law, this Court has likewise set forth specific maxims that directly address the arguments set forth by Petitioner, and render those arguments legally insufficient. “An expert is not limited to any class of persons acting professionally,” nor is a witness’s licensure or certification a prerequisite for expert qualification. *Gooding*, 326 S.C. at 253, 487 S.E.2d at 598; *Fields*, 376 S.C. at 555–56, 658 S.E.2d at 86. Also, “[t]he number of times a court has qualified a witness as an expert . . . will almost never be relevant to the trial court’s Rule 702 task.” *Warner*, 430 S.C. at 87, 842 S.E.2d at 366. Lastly, [d]effects in an expert witness’s education and experience go to the weight, rather than the admissibility of the expert’s testimony. *Gooding*, 326 S.C. at 253, 487 S.E.2d at 598.

The recitation of law above demonstrates that Petitioner’s primary arguments are facially insufficient to serve as a legal basis for reversal of the trial court’s decision to qualify Mr. Hightower. Regarding the topic of Mr. Hightower’s course certifications, there is no standard within the rule that a proposed witness must take certain classes that bestow upon him the classification of a qualified expert witness. Indeed, *no such system exists other than the judgment of the trial court*. Nor is it reasonable to argue that a certification disclaimer *from a single training course* somehow prevents that witness from becoming a qualified expert at trial based upon his collective training and experience. In fact, the lack of certification or licensing is not an automatically disqualifying factor for expert qualification. *Fields*, 376 S.C. at 555–56, 658 S.E.2d at 86 (citing to *Baggerly v. CSX Transportation, Inc.*, 370 S.C. 362, 635 S.E.2d 97 (2006), and noting that since there are a variety of ways in which a person can become sufficiently skilled and knowledgeable in a field, adherence to licensing requirements as a prerequisite for expert

qualification is “arguably inconsistent with Rule 702’s operational framework for expert testimony.”); *Belk, Inc. v. Meyer Corp., U.S.*, 679 F.3d 146, 162 (4th Cir. 2012), as amended (May 9, 2012) (In applying the identical federal rule, the Fourth Circuit noted that a court should consider the full range of the proposed expert’s experience and training, not just his professional qualifications.). In this same vein of thought, neither Petitioner’s arguments nor the record on appeal establish as fact that there is some board, bar, or administrative body that oversees licensure and certification for individuals performing historical cell site analysis. Petitioner’s arguments appear to improperly demand a level of professional bureaucracy that has not even been shown to exist in Mr. Hightower’s field. See *Gooding*, 326 S.C. at 253, 487 S.E.2d at 598 (expert witness qualification is not limited to the class of persons acting professionally.)

Petitioner relies upon *State v. Ellis*, 345 S.C. 175, 178, 547 S.E.2d 490, 491 (2001) and *McDill v. Mark's Auto Sales, Inc.*, 367 S.C. 486, 491, 626 S.E.2d 52, 55 (Ct. App. 2006) in support of his arguments. However, neither case has applicability to the argument that Mr. Hightower did not have sufficient training and experience to satisfy Rule 702.

Ellis involved an expert qualified in the areas of crime scene processing and fingerprint identification. This Court found that such a qualification was appropriate, but that the witness exceeded the scope of that expertise in offering additional opinion testimony in the area of crime scene reconstruction and whether the defendant acted in self-defense. *Id.* In contrast, there is no argument suggesting Mr. Hightower’s testimony exceeded the scope of the expertise for which he was qualified. Judge Mullen was careful to delineate the specific area of historical cell site analysis for location tracking from the more simple discipline of explanation of cell phone records. (R. p. 26, line 5 through p. 27, line 3). The trial court concluded that Mr. Hightower was qualified to

testify as to tower/sector location tracking analysis and Mr. Hightower testified accordingly. *Ellis* lends no support to Petitioner's arguments.

McDill likewise fails to offer support of Petitioner's argument. In *McDill*, this Court adhered to the stringent "abuse of discretion" standard in not overturning the trial court's decision to deny expert witness qualification to a proposed accident reconstruction witness. In *McDill*, it was undisputed that the proposed expert had some training in the field in question, but of most concern was the lack of "methodology" used by the proposed expert in his analysis, not the "sufficiency of training and experience". The trial court found that the proposed expert had merely taken the word of the motorists as to the speeds they were traveling; he "did not use any particular reconstructive techniques in making this determination." *Id.* As such, the *McDill* Court's consideration of a lack of methodology is not relevant to the arguments that Petitioner is asserting on appeal, *i.e.* the sufficiency of training and experience.¹⁰

While *Ellis* and *McDill* fail to support Petitioner's arguments, there is case law in support of the trial court's decision to qualify Mr. Hightower as an expert. In *State v. Franks*, the Court of Appeals found that proposed expert witness, Sargent Kelley, was sufficiently trained and experienced in historical cell site analysis as he had conducted analysis on "approximately *fifty cases* over the course of three or four years" in using the GeoTime software in question, in addition to his 15 years of experience working with cell phone technology and his seminars for utilizing the GeoTime software. *State v. Franks*, 432 S.C. 58, 76, 849 S.E.2d 580, 590 (Ct. App. 2020),

¹⁰ In any case, the facts concerning Mr. Hightower's methodology likewise differ from *McDill* because the data pertinent to historical cell site analysis is provided in the official records from the cell service provider, not the witnesses or culprits of an accident. Additionally, Mr. Hightower testified that the location analysis was conducted *both* by the entry of that data into the CASTViz software system designed to compute the location analysis and by manual computation, which Mr. Hightower explained in detail. (R. p. 261). Demonstrating the accuracy of his work, Mr. Hightower testified that the software results matched his manual computation. (R. p. 51, lines 18-21).

reh'g denied (Nov. 24, 2020). While Sargent Kelley may have 15 years of experience with cell phone technology, the opinion demonstrates that his collective training and experience specific to historical cell site analysis is moderately *less* than that of Mr. Hightower, and does not include any mention of manual computation to confirm the accuracy of the utilized software.

In *State v. Young*, the defendant attempted to challenge the qualifications of the first time qualified expert, Agent Grabski (referred to in the Record as “Grabinski”) claiming no prior qualification and a lack of peer reviewed analysis of his work. The Court of Appeals noted that:

The proffer at trial established Agent Grabski had been a member of the SLED surveillance and intelligence unit for two years and had performed cell phone location analysis in over 200 cases. It also revealed Agent Grabski was trained by the FBI's Cellular Analysis Survey Team and received additional training from private entities. Agent Grabski also said he received extensive training in pen register track and trace techniques.

State v. Young, 432 S.C. 535, 543, 854 S.E.2d 615, 619 (Ct. App. 2021). In comparison, Mr. Hightower had analyzed approximately half as many sets of records, but Mr. Hightower possessed more than double the total years of experience in performing the job in question, and Mr. Hightower's training in both “Pen” and CAST bears remarkable similarity to Agent Grabski's trainings. Incidentally, this was the CV the solicitor found *comparable* to Mr. Hightower's CV in arguing for expert qualification at Petitioner's trial.¹¹ (R. p. 7). In further support of Mr. Hightower's expertise, he demonstrated both training and experience in conducting the location

¹¹ Petitioner attempts to differentiate Grabski's experience and training from that of Mr. Hightower's by referencing the portion of the *voir dire* where Mr. Hightower is questioned as to the specifics of Grabski's CV, a subject he obviously was not able to speak to with much confidence. Petitioner relies upon Mr. Hightower not attending a “Cellular Analysis Training School”, and otherwise attempts to suggest that any difference between the two resumes renders Mr. Hightower unqualified as an expert witness. (Brief of Petitioner, p. 21). While such an argument is inherently flawed, it should be noted that while Mr. Hightower did not attend “Cellular Analysis Training School”, he did attend CATS, aka “Call Analysis Training School” (R. p. 588) as well as other trainings that were not mentioned to be part of Grabski's CV. (R. p. 578-589).

analysis *manually*, and used this skillset as a confirmation of the accuracy of the results the software creates. (R. p. 51, lines 18-21). This further demonstrates Mr. Hightower's sufficient training, experience, and knowledge in the discipline in comparison to other qualified experts.

What is particularly striking about Petitioner's legal argument *is what is noticeably absent from his argument*. In the entirety of his brief, nowhere does Petitioner set forth the controlling maxim that any defects in the training or experience of a proposed expert go to its weight, and not its admissibility – a ruling that the trial court explicitly noted in response to defense counsel's arguments against qualification. (R. p. 70, lines 21-25). While Respondent argues that no such defect exists, Petitioner's failure to address such law is not surprising, as addressing this legal maxim would leave no room for the arguments he presents in this case.

The simple fact is, Mr. Hightower had studied the area of historical cell cite analysis extensively, had obtained extensive experience in conducting such analysis, and the performance such analysis had served as his career for the seven years prior to Petitioner's trial. He has, by reason of study and experience, acquired "such knowledge and skill in a profession or science that he is better qualified than the jury to form an opinion on the particular subject of his testimony." The record demonstrates that Mr. Hightower satisfied the legal standard to be qualified as an expert witness in this case and the trial court's decision is in no way arbitrary, unreasonable, or unfair. Petitioner's arguments as to the supposed deficiency of Mr. Hightower's collective training and experience, relying on a lack of previous expert qualification and certification, are by existing law, not sufficient arguments to warrant reversal and the Court of Appeals decision should be affirmed.

b. Certain factual arguments set forth by Petitioner are without support in the record

In addition to the legal deficiencies of Petitioner's arguments, there are also a number of factual assertions that require correction or clarification. First, Petitioner asserts that Mr.

Hightower “demonstrated no knowledge, skill, experience, training or education in [the area of historical cell site analysis].” (Brief of Petitioner, p. 6). Such an assertion is inaccurate, as the record demonstrates that Mr. Hightower took numerous courses in the discipline, had practiced the discipline as his career for seven years prior to Petitioner’s trial, and had performed the type of analysis in question on more than 100 sets of data. To suggest Mr. Hightower possesses no training or experience requires one to overlook 26 pages of the record where Mr. Hightower discussed in detail his training and experience. (R. p. 3-29). Petitioner later hedges, and argues similarly that Mr. Hightower “had very little experience conducting analyses of historical cell site location information.” (Brief of Petitioner, p. 18). The record demonstrates that this assertion also lacks support.

Second, Petitioner asserts that the State “relied primarily” upon the FBI CAST training as its basis for expert qualification. (Brief of Petitioner, p. 17). Such an assertion is again inaccurate as the record clearly indicates that the State relied *on the totality of Mr. Hightower’s training and experience*, not just the completion and certificate of one training course. (R. p. 7; p. 69, line 21 through p. 70, line 3).

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